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CHAPTER 1


INTRODUCTION: THE PLACE AND ITS PAST


Sutton Park is on the northern edge of the Birmingham conurbation, just 6 miles from the city centre (1). It is a large public open space of over 900ha (about 2,250 acres) used mainly for informal recreation. Its ecology, including vegetation patterns often incorrectly described as ‘natural’, is recognised to be of national significance and is appreciated by many visitors. In addition, but much less appreciated, Sutton Park is a nationally important historic landscape containing extensive and well-preserved archaeological remains of various periods of the past. Amongst many other features, these include about 28km (17 miles) of former boundaries, consisting of banks and ditches, that show how the vegetation patterns we see in the Park now result from its management as a deer park in the Middle Ages. To the author’s great surprise, the Park’s archaeological remains had been very little studied when he began investigating them as an undergraduate student in 1977. More recently, exposure of hitherto concealed archaeological features by heathland clearance, identification of features by LiDAR (described below), and ground survey by Roy Billingham have further emphasised the remarkable extent and survival of remains of the Park’s past.


Sutton Park lies to the west of the town of Sutton Coldfield, close to the centre of England: indeed, a fir tree in Holly Hurst (2) is marked as the ‘alleged centre of England’ on the map in William Midgley’s book, A short history of the Town and Chase of Sutton Coldfield (1904). Although it has been part of the City of Birmingham since 1974, Sutton Park is historically within the parish of Sutton Coldfield in Warwickshire, on its border with Staffordshire to the west. The strip of the Park west of the Roman road was in Staffordshire until the nineteenth century – it was still in Staffordshire when Agnes Bracken was writing her History of the Forest and Chase of Sutton Coldfield in 1860.
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1 Location of Sutton Park.


Sutton Park enters documented history in 1126 when the deer park is first mentioned, together with the far more extensive hunting reserve of Sutton Chase in which it lay. In 1528 it became grazing land and its woodlands were managed as coppices. Streams were harnessed to drive watermills in the Park from the sixteenth century onwards, and in the nineteenth century the Park was used for military training and recreation.


The archaeological evidence consists of manmade structures and objects that show how people exploited and managed their environment, not only during the documented past but also well before the deer park was created. It suggests that the area that became Sutton Park lay within a more extensive piece of land that had already been set apart from its surroundings for several centuries. Earthwork boundaries indicate the extent of the deer park and its development in relation to the town of Sutton Coldfield. They show how deer were kept and hunted in the deer park, and how its woods were managed alongside grazing animals in the deer park and later. Archaeological remains also demonstrate the extent of encroachments and the impact of the industrial use of water power. Features of more recent date relate to the use of Sutton Park for military training, sports and public recreation.


This chapter describes the topography, geology, soils and vegetation of Sutton Park and considers what constraints they imposed on people, and what opportunities they offered. It goes on to describe the type of archaeological remains in Sutton Park, how they have survived, how they have been studied, and how they relate to other sources of information.


THE PLACE


Hills, slopes, valleys and streams


Sutton Park is on the edge of the Birmingham Plateau. The ground rises to 227m (about 750ft) above sea level on the Barr Beacon ridge to the west of the Park. To the south and east, beyond two ridges east of the Park, it ultimately falls towards the River Tame, and to the north it falls towards the Shenstone Basin. The highest point in the Park is near its north-eastern corner, rising to over 178m (about 580ft) above sea level, and there are locally high points over 150m (about 500ft) in the centre and south. Images generated from the LiDAR data, described below, vividly depict the lie of the land (3). Although there are relatively level areas in the north, centre and east of the Park, the overall picture is one of sloping ground, with steep slopes in places. The Park is crossed by prominent valleys, that of the Ebrook or Plants Brook in the north and east, which is joined by the smaller Keeper’s Valley and the stream running from Gum Slade, and that occupied by the Longmoor Brook in the south-west and south. The Ebrook Valley, particularly in its middle course, and its tributary streams are steep-sided; the valley slopes are incised by numerous small, and similarly steep-sided, dry valleys. The upper part of the Longmoor Valley has a broad valley floor and gentler slopes, but its eastern slopes are cut by several steep-sided dry valleys, created by glacial meltwater. Similar dry valleys also occur on the other valley slopes elsewhere in the Park. The sources of both the Ebrook and the Longmoor Brook are on the western boundary of the Park: the stream feeding Keeper’s Pool and the stream running from Gum Slade flow out of the lower parts of dry valleys, and Rowton’s Well, Keeper’s Well and Druids Well are fed by springs rising on the edge of valley floors. The streams in the Park are ‘misfit’ streams: they are too small to have themselves created the prominent valleys with their steeply sloping sides that they now occupy. There is no surface water on the slopes of Barr Beacon to the west of the Park, but there are a few streams to the south and there is much surface water on relatively impermeable geological formations to the north and east.
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2 Places in Sutton Park, including names recorded on the 1779 map and on Midgley’s map of 1904.


The general topography of the Park has changed relatively little over the last 10,000 years in comparison to its other characteristics. The hills, slopes and valleys we see now result from variations in the ‘solid’ geological formations and their erosion by glaciers and deposition of glacial drift over them, and subsequent erosion by glacial meltwater and the creation of gravel terraces in stream valleys. Since then the topography has been modified by continuous erosion by wind, rain, people and other animals and deposition of the eroded material in valley bottoms, together with peat accumulation.


Although the forms of hills and valleys in Sutton Park result predominantly from natural processes, the details of drainage are by contrast the result of people’s intervention. Over the last 900 years this has included creating pools by constructing dams; straightening streams; cutting peat; digging drainage ditches; and constructing a railway. All the pools in the Park are man-made, and virtually all the streams in the Park have been artificially straightened, in addition to natural changes in their courses in the past. Only the winding courses of the Ebrook near Blackroot Pool and the Longmoor Brook between Longmoor and Powell’s Pools and between Powell’s and Wyndley Pools are likely to have resulted predominantly from natural processes rather than human management, but even here the construction of these pools, like all the pools in the Park, has impeded drainage upstream and influenced the streams’ courses. Before the first known management of the Park’s watercourses, in the medieval period, we must picture the Park without its pools and drainage ditches: a landscape of streams, probably with multiple winding channels, flowing in marshy valleys which were difficult to cross and separated areas of higher ground which were predominantly wooded.
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3 Computer-generated image of Sutton Park (hill-shaded digital terrain model) from LiDAR data showing the lie of the land. Names of features are shown in fig 2. Copyright reserved by Cambridge University Collection of Aerial Photography


Geology


Although the ‘solid’ geological formations underlying most of Sutton Park and the glacial drifts over them (4) can be divided into different types on the basis of their age and the details of their composition, they are very similar in their general character and certainly in terms of people’s perception of them, and consist predominantly of pebbles and sand. The main solid formation is Bunter Pebble Beds (now known as part of the Cannock Chase Formation of the Sherwood Sandstone Group) which consists of red-brown sandstone with layers or lenses of well-rounded pebbles (5). In the north of the Park, the earlier Hopwas Breccia, composed of angular pebbles, is exposed, and in the upper reaches of the Ebrook and around Little Bracebridge and Bracebridge Pools is the even older Red Marl, consisting of silty mudstones, which weather to a silty clay, and sandstones. Glacial drifts overlie much of the Park: they are largely derived from the underlying formations and therefore consist mainly of pebbly sands, with some clay. The floors of the stream valleys are occupied by gravels, overlain by alluvium carried by the streams, and colluvium (soil washed down the valley sides) has accumulated on the lower slopes.


The Bunter Pebble Beds continue to the west, south and north-east of the Park, and Hopwas Breccia and Red Marl continue to its north. To the east, Sutton Coldfield town centre is on a ridge of sandstone, and beyond this Mercia Mudstone (formerly known as Keuper Marl), underlies Wishaw, Middleton and their surroundings. Mercia Mudstone consists of mudstones and silty mudstones which weather to a silty clay, and it is overlain by glacial drifts derived from it and from the nearby sandy, pebbly formations.
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4 Geology and soils. Historic woodland is shown in outline and named in fig 2.
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5 Bunter Pebble Beds exposed to the west of Sutton Park – layers of pebbles and sandstone.


Soils


The mineral ‘parent material’ of the soil in most of the Park is therefore sand and pebbles with some clay. Soils are formed on it by the addition of organic material from vegetation, reworked by bacteria and fungi, and affected by water, wind and animals, including people. In general water percolates through the sand and pebbles, taking some minerals lower down into the soil, a process known as podzolisation. Gleyed soils form where waterlogging occurs. Unlike the geology and topography, the soils of the Park have changed during the 10,000 years or so covered by this book, so the following is a description of its soils now. Past soil conditions are preserved in the old ground surfaces fortuitously buried under archaeological features such as the Roman road (here) and the banks subdividing the medieval deer park (here; 88).
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6 The edge of Keeper’s Quarry showing the sandy, pebbly parent material on which the soils have developed. The lighter layer immediately below the ground surface is the leached layer of a podzol.


Donald Mackney of the Soil Survey of England and Wales undertook a detailed survey of the soils of Sutton Park in 1971. Over much of the Park the soils are ‘well-drained weakly podzolised brown earths’. The brown earths occur under the ancient woodland areas of Streetly Wood, Pool Hollies, Darnel Hurst, Upper and Lower Nut Hurst, Holly Hurst and Gum Slade, together with Westwood Coppice and land east of Blackroot Pool (4). They have a thin humic layer over a thin grey layer which is stained by humus washed down from above and from which iron has been leached (carried by water down through the soil). Under this there is a bright brown layer where iron has been redeposited, together with small amounts of clay. Soils on higher ground in the north, centre and west of the Park and on steep valley sides are humus-iron podzols (6). These too have a thin humic layer but this overlies grey, bleached, stony sand, thicker than the equivalent layer in the brown earths. This in turn overlies black stony sand, whose colour results from deposition of humus washed down from the grey layer higher up. Below this is yellow-red sand, coloured by iron washed down into it. There is also some clay lower down in the soil. Both the brown earths and podzols are low in nutrients, acid (with a surface pH of 3.6 to 4.6), do not retain water, dry rapidly, and erode once the humic layer has been removed: paths create hollows and rain running down slopes creates gullies (7).
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7 Soil erosion in Longmoor Valley.


Gleys are soils subject to periodic or permanent waterlogging, resulting in a mottled grey and red-brown appearance. Peaty surface water gley soils, which occur around Bracebridge Pool, Little Bracebridge Pool and around the edges of the valley floor of Longmoor Brook, have developed over relatively impermeable geological deposits such as Red Marl and areas of glacial drift containing more clay. They are overlain by up to 0.45m (18in) of peat, under which there is a thin peaty sandy loam and a mottled subsoil resulting from seasonal waterlogging, with a greater amount of clay than the soils elsewhere in the Park. They are more acid than the brown earths and podzols. Sandy groundwater gley soils, which have similarly mottled layers to those of surface water gleys but lack a peaty layer, result from seasonally high groundwater and occur on sandy alluvium and colluvium (soil washed down slopes) in Gum Slade and the Ebrook Valley downstream from the stream feeding Keeper’s Pool and across Meadow Platt.


Valley bog, with peat greater than 0.45m (18in) thick, was recorded by Mackney around the headwaters of the Ebrook, along the Ebrook between Bracebridge Pool and the former Blade Mill Pool, and along the Longmoor Brook from its source to Longmoor Pool. Observation by the author and observation and coring with an auger by Andy Howard have shown that peat in the Longmoor Valley is up to 0.9m (3ft) deep (8), and that there is peat 0.7m (28in) deep upstream of Keeper’s Pool, 0.6m (2ft) deep between Blackroot and Bracebridge Pools, and sediment 0.9m deep in the former Blade Mill Pool. However, the peat in at least the Longmoor Valley was originally deeper: the removal of upper layers by peat digging and by fire is mentioned in written records, and is indicated by the types of pollen providing evidence for past vegetation and by physical remains. In 2000 Jackie Hooley noted that the deepest peat was along the ‘Old Peat Pit’ (here), and no peat was seen in the neighbouring higher areas, suggesting either that the peat has been completely removed by digging or that there never was any peat here because it accumulated in natural hollows including the Old Peat Pit peat. There is also documentary evidence for, and archaeological remains of, peat digging along the Ebrook, described below.
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8 Peat overlying gravel, in Longmoor Valley near the Old Peat Pit. The scale rod is 1m long.


Vegetation


Like the watercourses and soils, and perhaps even more so, the present vegetation of Sutton Park is the result of human management over thousands of years. It is therefore itself an artefact – a man-made feature. The evidence for changes in vegetation in the past, including pollen in peat and soils, trees under peat, soil surfaces under earthworks, and earthworks relating to woodland management, is considered for each period in the following chapters.
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9 Longmoor Valley – heathland in the foreground, wetland in the middle distance and Longmoor Pool beyond.


The basic vegetation divisions existing now are clear on any map of the Park and to any visitor: heathland in the west, woodland in the centre and north, and grassland in the east. The dry heathland consists of heather, gorse and bracken, with grasses, and the wet heath on the lower valley slopes is purple moor grass, with sedges and rushes (9). Oak is the predominant tree in the older woodland, and is accompanied by rowan, birch and a prominent holly understorey (10). Willow, alder and alder buckthorn grow near pools. Holly is, unusually, a component of some of the alder woodlands in wet ground. The main species of nineteenth- and early twentieth-century plantations, standing alone or within existing woodland, are Scots pine and larch together with Corsican pine, spruce and beech. The acid grassland of the east (11) contains purple moor grass in wetter areas.
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10 Blackroot Glade, with the boundary bank and ditch of Lower Nut Hurst.
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11 Meadow Platt from Holly Knoll, with Holy Trinity church in Sutton Coldfield town centre beyond.


People and their environment: resources and constraints


The extent to which people in the past managed or exploited available resources in Sutton Park depended on their need, their ability, and their conscious decision. People’s perception of constraints varied over time, such that constraints in one period might present opportunities in another. For example, steep slopes might have discouraged cultivation but could have provided views over valleys in which animals could be seen by hunters or herdsmen and along which they could be driven. Also, as noted above, the resources themselves changed over time.


Because the pebbly, acid soils were not well suited to cultivation (even though they could have been less acid and more nutrient-rich in the more distant past) they encouraged use of the area for animal grazing, hunting and woodland in the medieval and later periods. Pebbles were used in the prehistoric burnt mounds (here), gravel was dug out to construct the Roman road (here), and sand and pebbles were quarried in later periods for road surfacing and other purposes (here). Different parts of woodland could have been exploited: timber for building, underwood from coppiced trees for various purposes, branches for fuel, and leaves to feed livestock. Production of charcoal does not seem to have taken place in Sutton Park, although felled trees were sold to charcoal burners to make charcoal outside the Park, but there are records of bark being stripped from felled trees in Streetly Wood. Heather from heathland could have been used for animal bedding and for roofing, and bracken was a raw material for lye production. Boggy valley floors were barriers to movement, but peat provided a fuel if wood was not available or if the use of wood for fuel was restricted or prohibited. Streams provided drinking water for people and other animals and they were exploited to create fishponds, providing food, and mill pools, providing power. All watercourses and bodies of water, natural or artificial, formed clearings in wooded areas, were accompanied by vegetation such as rushes, and attracted wildfowl and other animals. The range of animals in the Park, providing sport, food and raw materials included birds, fish and mammals naturally present and those that were deliberately or accidentally introduced by people.


THE PAST


Archaeology and the history of Sutton Park


The main sources of information for this book are archaeological – the physical remains of the human past providing evidence of people’s response to, and control of, their environment – but other sources of information such as written records and maps can not only aid interpretation of archaeological remains but must be used alongside them for a full understanding of the Park’s past.


As described above, the earliest written record that definitely mentions Sutton Park dates to 1126, but a charter of AD 957 describing the boundaries of Barr and Little Aston includes streat lea, a wood or clearing on the Roman road, which is likely to be Streetly Wood. The boundary runs down the Roman road to ‘the great dyke at Barr’, possibly also within the Park, as discussed in Chapter 2. The charter may, however, refer to an estate elsewhere in the country.


It has been suggested that the ‘woodland two leagues long and a league wide’ recorded in the manor of Sutton in the Domesday Book may have been in the Park – this is unlikely but is discussed below (here). Medieval references to Sutton Park are sparse (although more may yet be discovered) but from the sixteenth century onwards there are many records of management of the Park by the governing body of Sutton Coldfield, originally the Warden and Society and later the Municipal Borough Council, and the activities of people with land interests in or adjoining it. As described above, the accounts of local historians include their observations of physical remains and, in the case of William Dugdale, transcripts of documents that are now lost.


The earliest known maps that mark Sutton Park and its pale (boundary fence) are Robert Vaughan’s maps of Warwickshire and Hemlingford Hundred in the first edition of William Dugdale’s Antiquities of Warwickshire (1656) and Joseph Browne’s map of Staffordshire of 1682, reproduced in Robert Plot’s Natural History of Staffordshire (1686). The Park is then depicted on subsequent county maps including that by Henry Beighton in the second edition of William Dugdale’s History and Antiquities of Warwickshire (1730) which includes the pools then existing and the main road through the Park, as well as the pale on its west and north (12). The first known detailed map of the Park itself was drawn in 1779, possibly in connection with surveys and valuations of timber in the Park for the Warden and Society, the governing body of Sutton Coldfield at the time. It includes woods, pools, streams, gates and the names of features and localities (13). Nineteenth-century maps include the Corn Rent and Enclosure maps of Sutton Coldfield Parish (1824–25), and the 1857 Valuation map. The map in William Midgley’s history of 1904, based on the contemporary Ordnance Survey map, is particularly useful in indicating the traditional names of localities within the Park (2) as well as highlighting features not recorded by the Ordnance Survey. In addition to historic mapping there are many photographs of the Park from the nineteenth century onwards, several of which are published, accompanied by commentaries, in Marian Baxter’s book in the Images of England series.
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12 Detail from Henry Beighton’s map of 1725.
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13 Detail of the north-eastern part of Sutton Park on the map of 1779, showing Bracebridge Pool, Pool Hollies, Gum Slade, part of Darnel Hurst and part of Lady Wood. Photo: Roger Lea


Archaeology: the physical remains of the Park’s past


Most of the archaeological remains in Sutton Park survive as earthworks: humps and bumps in the ground, including pits, hollows and particularly former boundaries each consisting of a bank and ditch (14). They are visible on the surface and therefore do not require excavation to locate them. Their date and purpose can be interpreted through careful observation, repeated in different conditions over several years, recording their form, location and relationship to each other (including relative dates – a feature such as a bank and ditch boundary is later in date than other features it crosses, overlies or is dug into, and vice versa), comparing them with similar features elsewhere, and by reference to historic maps and documents. Archaeological excavation and geophysical survey have provided additional details about some features, and clearance of vegetation as part of ecological management of heathland has revealed features that were previously obscured. In addition to earthworks, objects have been found by chance and in deliberate observation of eroded path surfaces.


In general, the successive uses of Sutton Park described in this book, including hunting, grazing, military training and recreation, have ensured good preservation of remains of earlier activities. Boundary banks and ditches survive for almost their entire lengths, together with small pits and mounds that have experienced little erosion. Paradoxically, this sometimes makes it difficult to interpret archaeological remains in the Park by comparison with less well preserved features of a similar type in other places.
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14 The character of Sutton Park’s archaeology: the boundary of Park I near Holly Hurst.


However, Sutton Park is now and always has been a busy place, as shown by the wealth of archaeological remains of various periods, and some past activities have been destructive. For example, military training during the First World War involved digging practice trenches near Westwood Coppice. During the Second World War the central part of the Park, north-east of Longmoor Pool and east of Streetly Wood, was brought into cultivation, tank testing took place in the Park and there was a prisoners-of-war camp near Banners Gate and a National Fire Service camp south of Holly Hurst. The Scout Jamboree of 1957 (commemorated by the Jamboree Stone in the centre of the Park: 2) involved extensive mechanical clearance of vegetation and provision of tracks and services and although it was concentrated in the areas ploughed during the war, it included separate locations beyond this, near Streetly Lane and near the Roman road. Visitor pressure, on foot and by bicycle, and burrowing and grazing animals, continues to erode ground in the Park.


The character of the archaeological remains in Sutton Park, their survival, the difficulties encountered in recording them, and the erosive impacts on them, are in many respects similar to those in the New Forest. Here too there has been a lack of recent agricultural activity but there are pressures from modern recreational use. The difficulties in recording earthworks in the New Forest, as related by Nicola Smith, are familiar to this author in Sutton Park – dense bracken, gorse thickets and high heather can completely obscure any earthworks, and variation in the height of heather can create a false impression of undulating ground. In woodland, tree outlines and variation in light from the shadows they cast can make earthworks difficult to pick out. The New Forest contains many bank and ditch boundaries but in contrast to most of those in Sutton Park they are often fragmentary, rather than continuous, and they lack the relationships with other earthworks that would provide relative dates for them. Some of the New Forest banks and ditches end abruptly and inexplicably, and there are many isolated banks and ditches whose purpose is unclear.


Aerial photography is not particularly useful in locating archaeological features in Sutton Park because much of the ground is covered by trees or heathland vegetation, and features in open areas are as visible on the ground as they are from the air. However, in 2009 the University of Cambridge’s Unit for Landscape Modelling undertook a LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) survey of Sutton Park as part of the preparation of a Heritage Partnership Agreement (here). The purpose of this was to locate previously unrecorded archaeological features, and to enable accurate mapping of features which were already known, but were obscured by vegetation and therefore difficult to measure on the ground. LiDAR is aerial survey by laser rather than by photography. Laser beams are transmitted down to the ground from an aircraft whose location is recorded by a Global Positioning System (GPS). The laser beams will reflect from the first thing they reach, and the height of the location the laser beam reflects from is calculated by measurement of the time taken for the signal to return. The ‘first return’ is the return signal of laser beams that reach the ground surface in open conditions, or reflect from the tops of trees or buildings. The ‘last return’ is the reflection of laser beams that have reached through gaps in the tree canopy to the ground surface below. The millions of readings (at least four for each square metre, indicating banks, mounds, ditches and pits as little as 0.5m (20in) across and 0.2m (8in) high or deep) are portrayed as computer-generated images. The image derived from data from the first return is a digital surface model – in Sutton Park, because of the extent of woodland, this looks similar to aerial photographs. Processing the data to highlight the last return readings results in a digital terrain model from which the tree cover has been removed, revealing archaeological features in woodland as well as in open ground. The images are given artificial shadow from different directions to highlight the archaeological features and the hills, slopes and valleys on which they lie (3, 38, 95, 98).


Archaeological features on the images derived from the LiDAR data include banks and ditches marking former boundaries; hollows resulting from erosion along tracks and paths; ridges suggesting former cultivation; and pits, including quarry pits and others whose origin is uncertain. Despite the clarity of the LiDAR images, laser was not able to penetrate all of the woodland, possibly because of the dense holly understorey, and some of the heathland, because of dense cover of heather, gorse and bracken growing close to the ground. Conversely, some of the features detected in the LiDAR survey and clearly visible on the computer-generated images could not be located on the ground within vegetation that the laser had penetrated, because it was so dense that it was inaccessible on foot, and it is likely that more earthworks remain concealed in such areas. Some of the smaller archaeological features such as sawpits (here) and the pits and mounds near Pool Hollies (here) might actually have been detected in the LiDAR survey but they cannot be identified on the images because of their size in relation to the pixel size.


As noted above, the Park’s soils are easily eroded, and paths create hollows which, when the paths are disused, can be mistaken on the LiDAR images and on the ground for ditches, but can normally be distinguished from the bank and ditch boundaries by the absence of a bank. The Park’s earthworks do, however, include actual ‘hollow ways’ or eroded former tracks, some of which are probably medieval in date. Former drainage ditches in the wetter western part of the Park might be mistaken for boundary ditches when seen on the LiDAR images, but they are normally easily identified on the ground because they tend to run in straight lines and rather than an accompanying bank they can have irregular mounds on one or both sides, consisting of earth taken from them when they have been cleaned out.


Although the Park is used by many people, walking along paths with eroding soil on both sides in which material might be expected to be exposed, and much routine maintenance such as cleaning drainage ditches has involved manual excavation rather than the use of machinery, relatively few objects have been found by chance discovery. This is partly because the past uses of the Park do not seem to have included settlements that would have left recognisable debris, and partly because the objects most likely to be exposed are prehistoric worked flints and possibly items made from other types of stone, which are less likely to be noticed by most people than metal objects.


Observing and interpreting


Until relatively recently, there has been surprisingly little research into or recording of the archaeological remains in Sutton Park. This might have been because it was not appreciated that such remains would survive in close proximity to Birmingham and in such a populous part of the country, in contrast to the downs of southern England or the moors of the south-west and north of the country; or because the visible remains were considered to be of relatively recent date; or because there were no obvious settlement or burial sites, other than the supposed barrow, that might have attracted excavation to retrieve structures and objects. Also, and again probably because of its location within a conurbation, the ecology of the Park has generally been more appreciated than its archaeology.


Some publications about the history of Sutton Coldfield and surrounding areas refer only to the Roman road in the Park and no other archaeological remains, reflecting the road’s prominence and an interest in the archaeology of the Roman period in general. The Roman road is mentioned by, for example, the seventeenth-century Warwickshire historian William Dugdale (Antiquities of Warwickshire, 1656) and the eighteenth-century Birmingham historian William Hutton. Riland Bedford describes it in his History of Sutton Coldfield in 1891 and mentions an excavation ‘some years ago’. Some writers refer to other archaeological remains as well – in her History of the Forest and Chase of Sutton Coldfield (1860) Agnes Bracken refers to the excavation of what was thought to be a barrow, as well as to excavation on the Roman road. Guidebooks were more concerned with what could be seen on the ground than the histories, which concentrated on people and events recorded in documents: Eliezer Edwards’s Sutton Coldfield: a history and guide (1880) mentions banks and ditches near Keeper’s Pool (now interpreted as boundaries of subdivisions of the medieval deer park) and the earthworks called the ‘Ancient Encampment’, and G. Sidwell and W.J. Durant’s The Popular Guide to Sutton and Park (1890) mentions the earthworks near Keeper’s Pool. Guidebooks produced more recently, in 1965 and 1980, mention the ‘Ancient Encampment’, the Roman road and the burnt mounds.
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